

Having a lumbar puncture

Acute Medicine Department

Patient Information Leaflet

Introduction

This leaflet is for adults who are going to have a lumbar puncture. It explains:

- What the lumbar puncture involves.
- Why it is done and the possible risks.
- What will happen after you have had the lumbar puncture.

What is a lumbar puncture?

This procedure (sometimes called a 'spinal tap') is used to obtain a sample of the fluid that surrounds the brain and spinal cord called the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF).

Why do I need a lumbar puncture?

A lumbar puncture may be done for various reasons. The most common reason is to remove a small amount of CSF for testing. This can help in the diagnosis of various disorders. Depending on your symptoms, the fluid may be tested for red and white blood cells, protein, glucose (sugar), to see whether bacteria, viruses, or abnormal cells are present, and possibly for other specialist tests. The clarity and colour of the fluid are also checked and, when necessary, CSF pressure will be measured to see if it is within the normal range.

Excess CSF may also be removed in people who have an overproduction or decreased absorption of the fluid.

What are the risks?

Headache

This is the most common side effect and is due to decreased pressure of the CSF following removal of the fluid. It can start a few hours to two days after the procedure, and it can last for a few days. It is caused by fluid being removed and / or the slow leak of spinal fluid through the puncture site into the tissue. It is not dangerous and the leak closes over a few days. The headache may be dull or throbbing, and you may also have a stiff neck and feel nauseous. It can be treated by lying flat and taking pain relief medication such as paracetamol.

Very rarely, the headache can last several weeks or months and will need an injection to seal the lumbar puncture site. Drinking plenty of fluid, caffeine and eating salted snacks can help to reduce the risk of headache. If it does not settle or is severe, let your doctor know.

Back pain

You may experience some back pain after the procedure from where the local anaesthetic injection and lumbar puncture needle was inserted. You may also have some bruising. If you have any back pain after the lumbar puncture, you can treat this with pain relief medication such as paracetamol.

Tingling in your legs

Nerve damage after a lumbar puncture is extremely rare (one in 1000). Sometimes during the procedure, the nerves that float in the fluid can touch the sides of the needle, causing them to be stimulated. When this happens, it gives a feeling of tingling down the leg that lasts for a few seconds.

Infection / fever

This is extremely rare. There is always a risk of infection being introduced, as the needle has to go through the skin. The risk is reduced by cleaning the skin and using aseptic techniques and hygiene practices. If you get symptoms of infection, like a fever, you must contact your doctor immediately.

Other complications

In very rare cases, a blood clot may form around the lumbar puncture site or around the brain. This would be very serious and may require surgery to treat it. There have also been extremely rare reports of persistent back pain, numbness and tingling of the leg, hearing loss and double vision following a lumbar puncture.

Serious harm due to complications such as these occur in less than one in 10,000 lumbar punctures. The clinicians looking after you will have weighed up the risks of the procedure against the potential benefits and will always ensure that the procedure is only undertaken if it is absolutely necessary.

What happens before a lumbar puncture?

The clinician looking after you will speak to you about the procedure and answer any questions you may have. After this, a consent form will need to be signed by yourself. Please make sure you empty your bladder before the procedure so that you are not uncomfortable during it.

Do not drive on the day of the lumbar puncture - please ensure that you have someone who can drive you back (if you are going home on this day).



What happens during the lumbar puncture?

Diagram: lumbar puncture needle being placed. Illustration used with kind permission of Lymphoma Action.

The lumbar puncture usually takes around 15 to 20 minutes. This is what happens:

- You will either be asked to lie on your side with your knees curled up to your stomach, or you will be asked to sit on the side of the bed, bending forward. A nurse may help you tuck your head towards your chest.
- Your lower back is washed with a disinfectant to clean the skin.
- You will then be given a local anaesthetic injection to numb the area. This may sting for a few seconds.

- The clinician will carefully put a needle into a space in the lower back, below where the spinal cord ends. You will need to hold very still so that the needle does not move. You may feel some pushing as the needle enters your back, please tell the team if you feel pain. Try not to hold your breath or tighten up your body too much as this can cause CSF pressure readings to be falsely elevated.
- A sample of your spinal fluid is then taken and will be sent to the laboratory for testing.
- A small dressing will then be put on your back.
- You will be asked to lie flat for an hour after the lumbar puncture this reduces the chance of developing a headache.

What if it is unsuccessful?

Lumbar punctures are usually successful, but sometimes it is not easy for the clinician to find the exact place where the needle should be inserted.

This is more likely in people who have severe arthritis of the spine, have an abnormally shaped spine, or are overweight.

If this happens, the person doing the lumbar puncture may call another clinician to help, but in some cases the procedure has to be stopped. If this occurs, the team will talk to you about the plan following this. Sometimes the team may need to do more than one lumbar puncture to get the information they need.

What happens after a lumbar puncture?

Some people get a headache after a lumbar puncture. This is because, after the procedure, the pressure reduces slightly around the brain. The headache usually goes away after about 24 to 48 hours. You can have paracetamol if you need it and if you are able to take it, so ask the nurse who is looking after you. We advise you to keep yourself well hydrated to try to prevent this, and you can drink caffeine to help. The dressing from the lumbar puncture can be removed the following day. You can have a shower after six hours providing you feel well enough and do not have a low pressure headache.

The results will be given to you by the team when they are available. Some results, such as pressure measurements and white cell count, will be available quickly. Other results will take longer due to the time needed for analysis in the laboratory. The team looking after you should explain how long the results will take in your case.

Symptoms to report

Please contact your doctor if you have any of the following symptoms while in hospital or after you are sent home:

- Arm or leg weakness or numbness.
- New incontinence or constipation.
- A headache that does not resolve on lying flat.
- A high temperature (38°C or above).
- Sweats.
- Confusion.
- Strong aversion to bright light.

If you have any concerns after you have been discharged, during the hours of 8am – 7pm, Monday to Sunday, you can contact the same day emergency care (SDEC) – ambulatory emergency care (AEC) front desk on 01384 456111 ext 1815 and ask for the nurse in charge or registrar. If you have any questions, or if there is anything you do not understand about this leaflet, please contact:

The same day emergency care (SDEC) – ambulatory emergency care (AEC) front desk on 01384 456111 ext 1815

Russells Hall Hospital switchboard number: 01384 456111

This leaflet can be downloaded or printed from:

http://dgft.nhs.uk/services-and-wards/acute-medical-unit/

If you have any feedback on this patient information leaflet, please email dgft.patient.information@nhs.net

This leaflet can be made available in large print, audio version and in other languages, please call 0800 073 0510.

للحصول على هذه النشرة بحجم أكبر، وعلى شكل إصدار صوتي و بلغات أخرى، الرجاء الاتصال بالرقم 08000730510.

此宣传单可提供大字版本、音频版本和其它语言版本,请拨打电话: 0800 073 0510。

Ulotka dostępna jest również w dużym druku, wersji audio lub w innym języku. W tym celu zadzwoń pod numer 0800 073 0510.

ਇਹ ਪਰਚਾ ਵੱਡੇ ਅੱਖਰਾਂ, ਬੋਲ ਕੇ ਰੀਕਾਰਡ ਕੀਤਾ ਹੋਇਆ ਅਤੇ ਦੂਸਰੀਆਂ ਭਾਸ਼ਾਵਾਂ ਵਿਚ ਵੀ ਪ੍ਰਾਪਤ ਹੋ ਸਕਦਾ ਹੈ, 0800 073 0510 ਤੇ ਫੋਨ ਕਰੋ ਜੀ।

Aceasta brosura poate fi pusa la dispozitie tiparita cu caractere mari, versiune audio sau in alte limbi, pentru acest lucru va rugam sunati la 0800 073 0510.

یہ کتابچہ آپ کو بڑے حروف کی لکھائی ، سمعی صورت اور دیگر زبانوں میں مہیا کیا جا سکتا ہے برائے مہربانی فون نمبر 08000730510پر رابطہ کریں۔

Originator: Jennifer Novy. Date originated: February 2022. Review date: November 2024. Version: 1. DGH ref.: DGH/PIL/02165.